FILED 9-17-15 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72728-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LELAND JORDAN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Suffering from a medical crisis and perceiving that hospital staff were improperly depriving him of his pain medication, Leland Jordan purportedly threatened to go get a gun and shoot everyone. Prosecuted for felony harassment, Mr. Jordan waived his right to counsel. After about a six-month lapse in the proceedings, the State added a charge for bail jumping. Without counsel, Mr. Jordan entered an Alford guilty plea. Because there was a substantial change in circumstances requiring a new waiver of counsel and Mr. Jordan did not adequately renew his waiver, this Court should reverse. Additionally, the Court should reverse because there was not a factual basis to support the plea to felony harassment, the offense of felony harassment is unconstitutional, and the charging document alleging bail jumping was defective.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- In violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States
 Constitution and article one, section twenty-two of the Washington
 Constitution, Mr. Jordan was deprived of his right to assistance of counsel.
- 2. After a significant change in circumstances, the trial court erred in not conducting a new, full inquiry into whether Mr. Jordan was waiving his right to assistance of counsel.
 - 3. In violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution and article one, section three of the Washington Constitution, Mr. Jordan's plea violates due process.

- 4. The trial court erred in finding there was a factual basis for Mr. Jordan's plea to felony harassment.
- 5. The offense of felony harassment violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and article one, section five of the Washington Constitution.
- 6. In violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States

 Constitution and article one, section twenty-two of the Washington

 Constitution, the charging document did not provide adequate notice of all the elements of bail jumping.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. When there is a substantial change in circumstances during the proceedings, the court must procure a new unequivocal waiver of counsel. A substantial change in circumstances may arise when there is a lapse in the proceedings, new charges, or the defendant asks for counsel. Shortly after his case started, Mr. Jordan validly waived his right to counsel. After Mr. Jordan was released months later, there was about a six-month lapse in proceedings. The State added a charge for bail jumping. After the lapse and additional charge, Mr. Jordan made statements indicating he

wanted counsel. Was there a substantial change in circumstances requiring a renewal of Mr. Jordan's waiver of counsel?

- 2. To be effective, the record must show that a waiver of counsel was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. After the lapse in proceedings, the court conducted a cursory inquiry into whether Mr. Jordan wished to continue to represent himself. Mr. Jordan answered yes, but explained that he did not think he was going to be able to represent himself properly. The court's inquiry occurred before arraignment on the bail jumping charge and before Mr. Jordan stated he wanted counsel. Was Mr. Jordan deprived of his right to assistance of counsel?
- 3. To comply with constitutional due process, there must be a factual basis to support a plea. The offense of felony harassment requires proof that the victim was the target of coercion or intimidation and that the victim reasonably feared the defendant would carry out the threat to kill. According to the statement of probable cause, which was offered as the sole factual basis to support the charge, the purported victim only stated that she "witnessed" Mr. Jordan's threatening behavior, not that she was the target of it. She also did not state that she feared Mr. Jordan "would" carry out his threat. Rather, she stated she feared that Mr. Jordan "could" carry out his threat. Given these defects, is there a lack of a factual basis for Mr. Jordan's plea to felony harassment?

- 4. The First Amendment, as interpreted by the United States
 Supreme Court, requires proof that the defendant subjectively intended to
 make a threat. As interpreted by our State Supreme Court, the offense of
 felony harassment does not require proof of subjective intent. Is the crime
 of felony harassment unconstitutional?
- 5. A charging document must fairly allege all essential elements. An essential element of bail jumping is proof that the defendant had notice of a required court appearance and that the defendant knowingly missed this court date. The charging document alleged that Mr. Jordan had notice of a subsequent court appearance and that he committed the offense on or about January 17, 2014. The document, however, did not allege that Mr. Jordan knew he had to appear in court on January 17, 2014. Was the information constitutionally defective?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Leland Jordan was at Harborview Medical Center in Seattle on September 19, 2013. CP 95. At this time, Mr. Jordan was 61 years old and seeking medical treatment. CP 95, 162. Mr. Jordan, an African-American, suffers from sickle-cell anemia, a lifelong chronic condition for which he takes pain medication. 1RP 121, 148; 2RP 221; CP 95. While

¹ There are three volumes of verbatim reports of proceedings. The first volume ("1RP") contains proceedings from 10/3/13; 10/16/13; 8/1/14; 8/13/14;

at the hospital, Mr. Jordan felt that he was not being treated properly and that he needed his pain medication, which was not being provided. See CP 95-96; 2RP 205.

In pain, and suffering from withdrawal of his medicine, Mr. Jordan became upset and demanded his medications. See CP 95-96; 2RP 221. Mr. Jordan swore at the staff. CP 95. He made multiple statements that he would get a gun and kill everyone. CP 95. Mr. Jordan also spoke about recent shootings at the Naval Shipyard in Washington, D.C. and of a bus driver in downtown Seattle. CP 95. At some point, Mr. Jordan was restrained by hospital security. CP 95. Dr. Sachita Shah "witnessed" Mr. Jordan's behavior. CP 95. Dr. Shah did not state she feared that Mr. Jordan would actually go get a gun and shoot everyone. CP 95. Rather, she feared Mr. Jordan "could" do so. CP 95.

Mr. Jordan was arrested at the hospital by police officers. CP 96. He stated he was having a sickle-cell crisis. 1RP 121. Mr. Jordan denied that he had threatened anyone and said his statements had been hypothetical. 1RP 111, 123, 135. He said he had not intended to harm anyone. 1RP 121. When asked by the officer if he needed a wheelchair,

8/21/14; 8/26/14; 8/27/14; and 10/2/14. The second volume ("2RP") contains proceedings from 10/24/14. The last volume ("3RP") contains proceedings from 10/17/13; 10/30/13; 11/4/13; 11/6/13; 12/6/13; 1/17/14; and 6/26/14.

Mr. Jordan said he did. 1RP 113, 122. After a ride in a patrol car, Mr. Jordan was taken into the jail in a wheelchair. 1RP 117.

The State charged Mr. Jordan with felony harassment. CP 1. On October 16, 2013, appearing before the Honorable Jim Rogers, Mr. Jordan waived his right to be represented by counsel. CP 7-8; Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 13); 1RP 15. In the following months, after various hearings before the Honorable Ronald Kessler, the State moved for a two-month continuance on December 11th because Dr. Shaw would be unavailable. 3RP 42-43, 47; Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 16, 18, 20, 24A, 38). Mr. Jordan, who had been in jail since September, objected. 3RP 47. Judge Rogers, presiding again, proposed that Mr. Jordan be released, but that he report and participate in the CCAP Enhanced program. 3RP 47. Mr. Jordan

State v. Medina, 180 Wn.2d 282, 285, 324 P.3d 682 (2014).

² Both the minutes and the transcript incorrectly represent that the prosecuting attorney on some of these dates was Carlos Gonzales. 3RP. Mr. Gonzales was briefly Mr. Jordan's court appointed attorney before Mr. Jordan was permitted to represent himself. 1RP 7.

³ CCAP stands for Community Center for Alternative Programs. As described by our Supreme Court:

CCAP is 'a weekly itinerary ... of structured programs' administered at the Yesler Building in downtown Seattle. There are two different CCAP tracks: CCAP Enhanced and CCAP Basic. Offenders ordered into CCAP Enhanced report in person to the Yesler Building daily, while those ordered into CCAP Basic report only by phone.

expressed opposition, but ultimately acquiesced because he wanted to be released. 3RP 48-54.

Mr. Jordan did not appear at the next court date on January 17, 2014. 3RP 55. The State represented that Mr. Jordan's whereabouts were unknown and that Mr. Jordan had not reported to CCAP. 3RP 55. The court issued a warrant for Mr. Jordan's arrest. 3RP 55.

Mr. Jordan, now in custody and without counsel, appeared in court on June 26, 2014 before Judge Rogers again. 3RP 56; Supp. CP __ (sub. 57). The State recounted that Mr. Jordan had been representing himself. 3RP 56. The State notified Mr. Jordan that it intended to charge him with bail jumping. 3RP 62-63. Trial was set for August 18, 2014. 3RP 56.

The next court hearing was held on August 1, 2014, this time before the Honorable Patrick Oishi. Supp. CP __ (sub. 60). Mr. Jordan was still waiting for discovery and told the court that it might be too late for him to defend himself as a result. 1RP 25-26. The State represented that Mr. Jordan was not on the jail's pro se list and that he would need to get on that list before he could view the discovery. 1RP 25. The State provided another waiver of counsel form and asked the court to review it with Mr. Jordan. 1RP 25.

Mr. Jordan stated he still wanted to represent himself, but at the same time expressed frustration with his lack of access to legal materials,

supplies, and discovery. 1RP 28-30. He stated that he did not think he could prepare a meaningful defense. 1RP 29-30. Rather than engage in a full colloquy with Mr. Jordan on whether he was waiving his right to counsel, the court ruled that Mr. Jordan would remain pro se. 1RP 30. While correctly recounting that Judge Rogers had previously engaged in a colloquy with Mr. Jordan (nearly a year before), Judge Oishi incorrectly recounted that Judge Kessler had also conducted a colloquy with Mr. Jordan at some point. 1RP 30. Immediately following this discussion, the court granted the State's motion to amend the information to add a count for bail jumping and Mr. Jordan was arraigned on this additional charge. 1RP 30-32.

After further hearings in August on various matters, including a CrR 3.5 hearing where a video of Mr. Jordan in custody was played, Mr. Jordan informed the State he wanted to make an Alford⁴ guilty plea. 1RP 115-26, 156. That same day, August 27, 2014, Mr. Jordan entered his plea, which the court, the Honorable Monica Benton presiding, accepted. 1RP 159-80. Under the agreement, Mr. Jordan did not agree with the State's understanding of his offender score and reserved a challenge to it. 1RP 166-67.

 $^{^4}$ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

On October 2, 2014, on the court's own motion, Judge Benton appointed stand-by counsel for Mr. Jordan to assist him at the sentencing hearing and on the issue of his offender score. 1RP 183. At the sentencing hearing, the State calculated Mr. Jordan's offender score as a 10. 2RP 215. Mr. Jordan, whose experience with the criminal justice system was largely from the 1970s and 1980s, argued his score was a 6. 2RP 205; CP 164. The court ruled that the State had provided an accurate calculation of Mr. Jordan's criminal history and that it had no legal basis to reduce the score. 2RP 220.

Mr. Jordan explained to the court that much of his criminal history was over 20 years old and that he changed. 2RP 217-20. He recounted he had given his life to God, was married, had a child, and was a professional guitar player. 2RP 218. He pleaded that he would rather be dead than go back to prison. 2RP 219. In sentencing Mr. Jordan, Judge Benton expressed significant regret, explaining that the video the court observed at the CrR 3.5 hearing was profoundly moving, that the criminal penalties were unjust, and that if Mr. Jordan had been represented by counsel, the result may well have been different:

The Court was profoundly moved by the videotape that the Court had an opportunity to see at the time of the crime was committed-just-just- after the crime was committed by way of the arrest tape. And, there were some very compelling concerns that you voiced in that police car.

And, it showed a-a very troubled person addicted to drugs which were given to fight a lifelong disease of sickle cell anemia. And, it was jarring to think that there would be criminal penalties for someone who was clearly under the influence of withdrawal from medications which were intended to relieve pain.

.... you're here facing a sentence of 51 months, which I am going to impose, concurrent as to Counts I and II. There is no upside to that for anyone. It's an [a]bject lesson for the Prosecutor in this case, for standby counsel, and even for the Court. What a difference it might have made had legal counsel been in this case in the beginning.

You have stood tall, Mr. Jordan, to teach yourself in prison, to articulate your wishes in court. But, you have not attained a law degree, and that's what you needed in this scenario.

RP 220-22. The 51 month sentence was the lowest end of the standard range. 2RP 220. Mr. Jordan appeals.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Jordan was deprived of his right to counsel, requiring that his guilty plea be set aside.
 - a. A defendant's waiver of the right to counsel must be unequivocal and be made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right under the state and federal constitutions to counsel. Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV. Defendants may waive this right and represent themselves.

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 209, 691 P.2d 957

(1984). The waiver of the right to counsel must be affirmative and unequivocal. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 207. Like other constitutional rights, the waiver of counsel must be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Id. at 208-09.

An on the record colloquy is the preferred method. State v.

DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 378, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). At the very least, the defendant must understand the seriousness of the charge or charges, the possible maximum penalty, and that technical procedural rules govern defenses. Id. Absent a sufficient colloquy, rarely will the record show awareness of the risks of representing oneself. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 211.

Mr. Jordan validly waived his right to counsel near the beginning of the case on October 16, 2013. This is the beginning, not the end of the analysis.

b. A significant change in circumstances requires a renewed, valid waiver of the right to counsel.

Ordinarily, a valid waiver of the right to assistance of counsel continues throughout the proceedings. State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 445, 149 P.3d 446 (2006) aff'd on other grounds, 164 Wn.2d 83, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). If there is a substantial change in circumstances, however, a new waiver of the right to counsel is required. United States v. Fazzini, 871 F.2d 635, 643 (7th Cir. 1989); Schell v. United States, 423

F.2d 101, 103 (7th Cir. 1970); Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 445-446. "The essential inquiry is whether circumstances have sufficiently changed since the date of the *Faretta* inquiry that the defendant can no longer be considered to have knowingly and intelligently waived the right to counsel." United States v. Hantzis, 625 F.3d 575, 581 (9th Cir. 2010). Circumstances which may constitute a substantial change in circumstances include: a significant lapse of time between hearings, new charges, a request from the defendant, a change in potential sentences, or other similar circumstances. United States v. Clark, 774 F.3d 1108, 1113 (7th Cir. 2014) (collecting cases); State v. Rhoads, 813 N.W.2d 880, 889 (Minn. 2012) (amended charge that doubled the maximum possible punishment constituted a significant change in circumstances).

Schell is illustrative. There, a 20-year-old defendant waived his right to counsel at arraignment, pleaded guilty, and was released until sentencing. Schell, 423 F.2d at 102. Because the defendant was incorrectly told the maximum was five years, rather than six, the trial court gave the defendant the opportunity withdraw his plea at sentencing, which was held about six months later. Id. The defendant did not change his mind. Id. On appeal, the United States Court of Appeals concluded that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred, making the waiver of counsel ineffective:

Under all the circumstances—the youth and inexperience of Schell, the lapse of six months between the two hearings, the change in posture of the case due to the events in the interim and due to questions as to the validity of the March plea—the express waiver of counsel in March should not be deemed effective in September.

<u>Id.</u> at 103.

A new charge is another circumstance that may constitute a substantial change. In Rhoads, two months after the defendant waived his right to counsel, the State filed an additional charge, doubling the potential maximum punishment. Rhoads, 813 N.W.2d at 883. The defendant renewed his waiver at trial months later, but the court did not inquire into whether the defendant understood the level of punishment he faced. Id. at 883-84. The Supreme Court of Minnesota held that the amended charge was a change in circumstance requiring a renewal of the defendant's waiver. Id. at 888. Because the court had not informed the defendant of the maximum penalty he faced, the reviewing court held the renewed inquiry was inadequate to establish waiver. Id. at 889.

c. The six-month lapse in proceedings, combined with an additional felony charge and a request for counsel, constituted a substantial change in circumstances requiring a new waiver of counsel.

Three key changes in circumstances occurred in this case after Mr. Jordan's waiver of counsel in October 2013. First, there was a significant lapse in the proceedings. Second, the State added a new felony charge

after this lapse. Third, Mr. Jordan requested counsel after the filing of this charge. Because these facts constituted a substantial change in circumstances, this Court should hold that a renewal of Mr. Jordan's waiver of counsel was required.

Concerning the lapse in proceedings, the State successfully had the trial date continued for two months in December 2013. Mr. Jordan then did not appear for a court date on January 17, 2014. Mr. Jordan appeared next in the case in June 2014 after he was arrested and jailed. This effectively reset the case. 3RP 59-60. Additionally, because Mr. Jordan had been rebooked into jail, the jail did not consider him to be pro se and refused to provide him access to legal materials until new documentation of Mr. Jordan's pro se status was provided. CP 35 ("Pro se inmates that leave the King County Correctional Facility and are later rebooked need to inform us of their return and must ask to be put on the pro se list. It isn't automatic or assumed that someone is still pro se when they return."). Mr. Jordan was not provided access to legal materials and supplies until August 7, 2014. CP 35. As in Schnell, this significant lapse in the proceedings weighs against finding that Mr. Jordan's waiver of counsel in October 2013 continued when he appeared in the case again in June 2014.

Next, the State filed an additional charge of bail jumping on August 1, 2014. 1RP 31; CP 16. Neither the court, the prosecutor, nor the

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