FILED
Nov 10, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72728-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

LELAND JORDAN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RONALD KESSLER; THE HONORABLE JAMES ROGERS; THE HONORABLE PATRICK OISHI; THE HONORABLE MONICA BENTON

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

The crime of harassment requires that the "person by words or conduct places the person threatened in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out." RCW 9A.46.020(1)(b). In evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence for that element, the issue is whether a rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim had subjective fear, and using an objective standard, that the victim's fear in each case was reasonable. State v. Alvarez, 74 Wn. App. 250, 260-61, 872 P.2d 1123 (1994), aff'd, 128 Wn.2d 1, 904 P.2d 754 (1995). The facts must be examined assuming their truth and drawing all reasonable inferences from them. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Our courts do not require a victim of harassment to speak the magic words that the defendant placed her in reasonable fear that the threat would be carried out. RCW 9A.46.020(1)(b). Instead, courts consider the totality of the evidence to determine whether any rational jury could conclude that she was reasonably afraid. Circumstantial evidence is as reliable as direct evidence, and the State may prove its case with *only* circumstantial evidence. See, e.g., State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004); State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

In Alvarez, this Court considered two distinct threats by the same defendant. 74 Wn. App. at 252-55. In the first case, Alvarez decapitated a pigeon and then threatened a neighbor by referring to the carcass and saying, "Shut up, bitch, or I'll take you out, too." Id. at 253. The victim testified that she was extremely fearful and emotionally shaken, and that she "was not convinced that he wasn't capable of killing me." But there was distance and a fence separating her from Alvarez, and the trial court did not specifically find that her fear was reasonable. Id. Nonetheless, this Court held

that the evidence was sufficient for the trial court to infer a subjective and objectively reasonable fear. 14 Id. at 262.

In Alvarez's second case, Alvarez threatened a teacher at his high school by mentioning dynamite and burning down the teacher's house. <u>Id.</u> at 254. The teacher testified that he was "agitated and concerned," so he locked up his lawnmower gas and reported the incident to a principal. <u>Id.</u> Alvarez contended that the teacher's statement of being "agitated and concerned" was insufficient to show even subjective fear. <u>Id.</u> at 262. This Court roundly rejected that, saying that the teacher's words should be considered along with all the other circumstances, and the totality was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find Alvarez guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id.</u> at 263.

Even more on point is <u>State v. E.J.Y.</u> 113 Wn. App. 940, 55 P.3d 673 (2002). There, middle-school staff members heard E.J.Y. say that he "should go get my gun and do like Columbine," and warn, "You're going to have another Columbine around here, you guys better watch out. It's not just white boys that go off. I might

¹⁴ Our Supreme Court, in reviewing this Court's decision in <u>Alvarez</u>, also agreed that the "State met its burden of proof" in this harassment charge, "because there was sufficient evidence in the record for a rational trier of fact to find the necessary element of reasonable fear." <u>State v. Alvarez</u>, 128 Wn.2d 1, 19, 904 P.2d 754 (1995).

do it, too." Id. at 944. At trial, one victim testified that "I was concerned that [E.J.Y.] was making a threat that he could come back in and cause violence whether he was going to come back and shoot up the place...." Id. at 953 (emphasis added). The other victim testified that she felt "a little frightened" and believed E.J.Y. had meant what he said. Id. This Court found both victim statements, in the context of the words of the threats themselves and all the other circumstances, were sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find that both victims were subjectively and objectively afraid that the threat would be carried out. Id.

Turning to Jordan's case, the probable-cause document presented more than enough facts for a rational jury to find that Dr. Shah was subjectively and objectively afraid that Jordan would carry out his threat.

Jordan contends that Shah's statement was insufficient to conclude that Shah was even a target of the threat. But the probable-cause document states that Shah "witnessed Mr. Jordan's threatening behavior," which implies that she was present and witnessed all of it. CP 95. Jordan said he was going to "shoot everybody," and "there won't be a soul left standing." Id. And Shah specifically said she "felt threatened" when Jordan said he would

get a gun and "kill all of you motherfuckers." <u>Id.</u> Any jury could conclude that "all of you" included Shah.

Even taking in isolation the single paragraph pertaining to Shah, there were plenty of facts for a rational jury to conclude Shah was subjectively and objectively afraid. For one, the doctor said she "felt threatened" by Jordan's words. See, e.g., Alvarez, 74 Wn. App. at 262 ("agitated and concerned"); E.J.Y., 113 Wn. App. at 953 (one victim "concerned"; the other "a little frightened"). Shah also said she "feared that Mr. Jordan could actually carry out his plan." See, e.g., E.J.Y., 113 Wn. App. at 953 (one victim "concerned" that "he *could* come back in and cause violence"; the other believed he "meant what he said"); Alvarez, 74 Wn. App. at 253 ("was not convinced that he wasn't capable"). The standard is whether any jury could find Jordan guilty, and in this single paragraph, there were more than enough facts to do so.

Jordan's discussion of the semantical differences between "could," and "would" — with an analogy to thermonuclear annihilation — is quite interesting. AOB at 24-25. But it is irrelevant to the standard that applies to an <u>Alford</u> plea. This Court should consider Shah's statement along with the entire document, which portrays a series of very specific, violent threats that scared

not only Shah but everyone within earshot. For the factual basis to be insufficient for this <u>Alford</u> plea, it would have to be *impossible* for any rational jury to conclude that Shah was subjectively and objectively fearful that Jordan would carry out his threats to kill "all of you." That cannot be said here. In fact, it would be practically impossible for any rational jury to conclude that the doctor was *not* reasonably afraid.

Therefore, Jordan's <u>Alford</u> plea to felony harassment was supported by a sufficient factual basis.

- c. The Felony Harassment Statute Is Constitutional.
 - Jordan's constitutional claim should not be considered because his bare, conclusory briefing is insufficient.

Statutes are presumed to be constitutional, and a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute has the heavy burden of proving its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 235, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). This Court will overrule precedent only when the party seeking to have the decision overruled meets its burden of demonstrating that the precedent is both incorrect and harmful. State v. Stalker, 152 Wn. App. 805, 811-12, 219 P.3d 722 (2009). Furthermore, an appellate

court "will not review issues for which inadequate argument has been briefed or only passing treatment has been made." <u>State v.</u> <u>Thomas</u>, 150 Wn.2d 821, 868-69, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

This Court should decline to consider Jordan's constitutional challenge to the felony harassment statute because he has inadequately briefed the issue and provides only passing treatment. Jordan baldly declares that the state statute is unconstitutional, and makes a conclusory assertion that our Supreme Court is wrong. But he makes no effort to explain why, except for a cursory proclamation that <u>Virginia v. Black</u> overrules our Supreme Court. 538 U.S. 343, 359, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 525 (2003). Even if he might be right, which he is not, he cannot meet his high burdens of proof with conclusory declarations and unexplained citations. This Court should not address this argument.

ii. Our courts have specifically rejected Jordan's apparent argument.

In harassment cases, Washington uses an objective true threat test based upon how a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted. <u>State v. Kilburn</u>, 151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004). True threats are unprotected speech under the First Amendment. <u>Id.</u> The objective true-threat test

comports with the First Amendment because it "requires the defendant to have some mens rea as to the result of the hearer's fear: simple negligence." State v. Schaler, 169 Wn.2d 274, 287, 236 P.3d 858 (2010).

Jordan's argument appears to be based on a single passage in Black:

True threats encompass those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals. The speaker need not actually intend to carry out the threat. Rather, a prohibition on true threats protect[s] individuals from the fear of violence and from the disruption that fear engenders, in addition to protecting people from the possibility that the threatened violence will occur. Intimidation in the constitutionally proscribable sense of the word is a type of true threat, where a speaker directs a threat to a person or group of persons with the intent of placing the victim in fear of bodily harm or death.

538 U.S. at 359-60 (internal quotation marks and citations removed).

Our Supreme Court specifically addressed <u>Black</u>, a case about a Virginia cross-burning law, when it decided <u>Schaler</u>, and concluded that <u>Black</u> is distinguishable because the statute at issue there required the speaker to intimidate the listener, which necessitates a greater mens rea than simply putting the listener in fear. <u>Schaler</u>, 169 Wn.2d at 287 n.4.

Two years later, this Court took head on the argument that Black requires a "subjective, speaker-based true threat analysis," as Jordan apparently would parrot. State v. Ballew, 167 Wn. App. 359, 369, 272 P.3d 925, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1019 (2012). This Court dismissed this argument by citing Schaler's rejection of Black's applicability to Washington statutes. Id. at 368-69 ("because the State was not required to prove that Ballew meant to intimidate the listeners, Black does not support Ballew's argument").

Jordan also echoes Ballew's argument that some federal courts have held that a subjective test is required. But <u>Ballew</u> addressed this, too:

We also note that the federal circuit courts are split regarding the effect of <u>Black</u>'s true threat definition. We are not bound by these circuit courts, and the U.S. Supreme Court has not chosen to resolve this conflict within the circuits. Therefore, we continue to follow the law, as stated by the state supreme court.

<u>Id.</u> at 369.15

¹⁵ The <u>Ballew</u> court surveyed 14 federal circuit-court cases in considering this argument, including the two 9th Circuit cases Jordan now cites. 167 Wn. App. at 369 n.34. The two Jordan cites, <u>United States v. Cassel</u>, 408 F.3d 622, 631 (9th Cir. 2005) and <u>United States v. Bagdasarian</u>, 652 F.3d 1113, 1117 n.14 (9th Cir. 2011), are the only two surveyed that specifically held that a subjective test is required. <u>Ballew</u>, 167 Wn. App. at 369 n.34.

This Court has already fully and fairly considered and rejected the same constitutional argument that Jordan is making. ¹⁶ He has failed to meet his burden of showing that <u>Ballew</u>, <u>Schaler</u> and <u>Kilburn</u> are incorrect and harmful, and he certainly has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutional. His argument fails.

3. JORDAN'S BAIL-JUMPING CONVICTION WAS VALID.

Jordan lastly contends that his bail-jumping conviction is invalid because the charging document was constitutionally deficient in that it did not specify the date of his required court appearance. To the contrary, the charging document mirrored the statute, contained all the essential elements, and even specified the required court date. Jordan can show no prejudice. This claim also fails.

¹⁶ The U.S. Supreme Court this past summer decided <u>Elonis v. United States</u>, which had been expected to resolve, or at least address, the mens rea requirement under the First Amendment. 135 S. Ct. 2001, 192 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2015). However, <u>Elonis</u> held only that the mens rea required under a particular federal threat statute was greater than negligence, and the Supreme Court said "it is not necessary to consider any First Amendment issues." <u>Id.</u> at 2012. State courts already have noted this distinction. <u>See People v. Murillo</u>, 238 Cal. App. 4th 1122, 1129, 190 Cal. Rptr. 3d 119, 124 (2015), <u>reh'g denied</u> (Aug. 6, 2015), <u>review denied</u> (Oct. 14, 2015) (the state supreme court's approval of the negligence mens rea, practically identical to Washington's, still controls in light of the limited holding in <u>Elonis</u>).

a. Additional Relevant Facts.

Jordan was in custody from arraignment on October 2, 2013 until December 11, 2013. 3RP 51. As the court ordered his release to the Community Center for Alternative Programs (CCAP), it told Jordan that his next court date would be January 17, and Jordan replied, "Okay." 3RP 53. He failed to appear on January 17, 2014. 3RP 55. After he was arrested on the warrant in June 2014, he remained in custody through sentencing. 3RP 55; 2RP 197. The January 17, 2014, hearing was his only failure to appear.

When Jordan reappeared in court on June 26, 2014, the court discussed with Jordan his previous release and said, "you failed to appear on January 17." 3RP 57. The State notified him that it intended to add a bail-jumping charge. 3RP 62. The court explained that "bail jumping means you didn't show up for court." 3RP 63. Jordan immediately replied, "You knew where I was at, didn't you? 111 Cedar Street is where I live." Id. The court went on to remind Jordan that "in December ... I decided that the fair thing to do was to let you out to be in public and—on your promise to reappear because the trial was taking a while to get started." 3RP 64. Jordan replied, "It certainly was."

The State filed a Second Amended Information in the trial court on August 26, 2014. As to the Bail Jumping charge, the information said:

That the defendant, Leland Alfred Jordan in King County, Washington, on or about January 17, 2014, being charged with Felony Harassment, a Class C felony, and having been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before King County Superior Court, a court of the state of Washington, did fail to appear as required.

CP 93.17

Jordan responded to the amendment by explaining at length that after the State had been granted a "two month more continuance," the court had "sentenced me to go to the streets to some kind of program," and he did not feel that the court had the "lawful authority to give me the two months." 1RP 150-51. He added that the court had "violated all the rules, that he had lost jurisdiction on me ... and so I missed a court date." 1RP 151.

b. The Second Amended Information Was Not Deficient.

A charging document must allege facts that support every element of the offense charged and must adequately identify the

¹⁷ This amendment merely corrected the date of the offense. Jordan had previously been charged with bail jumping by First Amended Information on August 1, 2014, and was arraigned the same day. 1RP 32; CP 16-17.

crime charged. State v. Williams, 162 Wn.2d 177, 183, 170 P.3d 30 (2007) (penalty classification of bail jumping not an essential element). A charging document satisfies these requirements when it states all the essential elements of the crime charged. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101-02, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). It is sufficient to charge in the language of the statute if the statute defines the offense with certainty. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 99.

A challenge to the sufficiency of the charging document is reviewed de novo. State v. Campbell, 125 Wn.2d 797, 801, 888 P.2d 1185 (1995). Where, as here, the defendant challenges the sufficiency of the information for the first time on appeal, this Court liberally construes the information in favor of validity and asks: "(1) do the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice?" Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06.

i. The essential elements and the relevant date appear in the charging document.

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